No. S226779

SUPREME COURT
FILED

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

AUG 31 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

FRANK FLETHEZ,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

**SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY EMPLOYEES
RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION,**
Defendant and Appellant.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,
Fourth Appellate District, Division One
Case No. D066959
[San Bernardino Co. Super. Ct. (Hon. David Cohn, J.)
No. CIVDS 121542]

**BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT
FRANK FLETHEZ**

Mark Ellis Singer, SBN 62798
Edward L. Faunce, SBN. 43340
Larry J. Roberts, SBN 81414
Faunce, Singer & Oatman
315 North Vine Street
Fallbrook, CA 92028
Tel.: (760) 451-7377
Fax: (760) 451-7388

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

ISSUE PRESENTED

Do retroactive disability retirement payments made to a county employee become vested within the meaning of section 3287(a) of the California Civil Code¹ at the time that they accrue and therefore bear

¹ Cal. Civ. Code § 3287(a) (West Supp. 2015) [hereinafter section 3287(a) or § 3287(a)].

prejudgment interest from the dates they accrue, as this Court has long held, or do retroactive disability retirement payments not vest and not qualify the retiring county employee to prejudgment interest thereon until the employee proves his or her entitlement to them, as the schismatic opinion of the Court of Appeal declares?

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff and Respondent Frank Flethez (Plaintiff Flethez) sought a disability retirement due to injuries he received while employed by the County of San Bernardino. (See Flethez v. San Bernardino Cnty. Emps. Ret. Ass'n, No. D066959, slip. op. at [1]-2 (Cal. App. Apr. 22 , 2015) (review granted) [hereinafter Flethez slip op.].) Plaintiff Flethez eventually succeeded in his quest, but Defendant and Appellant San Bernardino County Employees Retirement Association (SBCERA) put him through his paces by refusing to accept the date after the last day that he received regular compensation from his employment as the effective date of his pension and thus forcing him to resort to a mandamus action to establish that entitlement. (See id. at 3.) After SBCERA threw in the towel in this regard, Plaintiff Flethez was also awarded prejudgment interest pursuant to section 3287(a) on the retroactive pension benefits that he received. (See

Flethez slip op. at 3-4.) SBCERA, not the least bit embarrassed by the fact that had it but paid the eight years of retroactive benefits to which Plaintiff Flethez was legally entitled instead of forcing him to resort to the Superior Court in order to recover these sums, it would have incurred no liability for interest whatsoever, see Weber v. Bd. of Ret., 62 Cal. App. 4th 1440, 1450, 73 Cal. Rptr. 2d 769, 776 (1998), objects to the award of prejudgment interest and appeals from that portion of the judgment. (See Flethez slip op. at 4.) The issues raised by SBCERA in support of its appeal are analyzed herein, and its contentions are refuted.

**STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS
AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY²**

In 1990 Plaintiff Flethez became an employee of the County of San Bernardino, working as an equipment operator from 1991 until 2000. In 1998 Plaintiff Flethez was injured while performing the duties of his job and consequently underwent spinal surgery. Plaintiff Flethez underwent

² Because the historical facts and events are undisputed, for the sake of convenience Plaintiff Flethez adopts the summary thereof generated by the Court of Appeal. (See Flethez slip op. at 2-4.) All statements of fact not otherwise attributed are taken from this source. And because the procedural course of the case largely constitutes the relevant historical facts, they are interwoven herein.

additional surgeries in 2001 and 2002, and he received physical therapy through 2004.

On 12 June 2008 Plaintiff Flethez filed an application with SBCERA for disability retirement benefits, but it was rejected because for personal reasons of great import to Plaintiff Flethez but not included in the record no signed medical records authorization was submitted. On 16 July 2009 after communication with SBCERA staff concerning the matter and rumblings of litigation Plaintiff Flethez filed a complete application including a signed medical records authorization and a supporting physician's report. On 5 August 2010 SBCERA granted Plaintiff Flethez's application for disability retirement benefits based on its staff recommendation, effective as of the date of his initial application on 12 June 2008.

Plaintiff Flethez requested a formal administrative hearing limited to the issue of the appropriate effective date of his retirement benefits. On 15 December 2011 the administrative hearing was held, and the hearing officer subsequently issued proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a recommended decision. On 4 October 2012 SBCERA adopted the hearing officer's proposed decision and maintained the effective date of 12 June 2008 for the commencement of Plaintiff Flethez's disability retirement benefits.

Plaintiff Flethez then petitioned for a writ of administrative mandamus pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5³ seeking a writ ordering SBCERA to set aside its decision and grant him service connected disability retirement benefits effective as of 15 July 2000 with interest at the legal rate on all retroactive amounts. On 21 November 2013 the Superior Court entered a judgment granting Plaintiff Flethez's petition and stating that a peremptory writ of mandate had been issued by the court which commanded SBCERA to grant him service connected disability retirement benefits retroactive to 15 July 2000, the date after the last day he received regular compensation, pursuant to section 31724 of the Government Code.⁴ (See J. Granting Peremp. Writ of Mandate para. 1, at 2; Appellant's App. 127.) "The [Superior] Court order[ed] payment of interest at the legal rate on all retroactive amounts. Those interest payment total \$132,865.37." (Id. para. 2, at 2; Appellant's App. 127.)

SBCERA then appealed but limited the scope of its appeal to the issue of prejudgment interest. (See Notice of Appeal at 1; Appellant's App. 131.) In all other respects SBCERA complied with the judgment, including by payment of the retroactive pension benefits to which Plaintiff Flethez

³ Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1094.5 (West Supp. 2015).

⁴ Cal. Gov't Code § 31724 (West 2008) [hereinafter section 31724 or § 31724].

had been found by the Superior Court to be entitled. (See Return to Writ of Mandate at 2; Appellant’s App. 61.)

The Court of Appeal (Fourth District, Division One) reversed the judgment “to the extent that it awarded [Plaintiff] Flethez section 3287(a) prejudgment interest on all retroactive disability retirement benefits”. (Flethez slip op. at 18.) After reviewing the operation of the retirement system with regard to granting disability pensions and to determining their effective date, (see id. at 5-7), the opinion of the Court of Appeal then surveyed the case law regarding the application of section 3287(a), (see Flethez slip op. at 7-13), and concluded that retirement payments, albeit retroactive, do not become vested and therefore do not generate interest pursuant to that statute until the date that the retiring employee “establishes his or her entitlement to retroactive benefit payments”, (id. at 14). Applying this interpretation of section 3287(a) to the undisputed facts of the case, the Court of Appeal concluded that Plaintiff Flethez is not entitled to section 3287(a) prejudgment interest on his retroactive benefits attributable to the period from 15 July 2000 through the date that he proved his right to receive such payments. (See Flethez slip op. at 17.) The case was remanded to the Superior Court to determine just when the latter date might be and to then award Plaintiff Flethez prejudgment interest calculated

therefrom, but the judgment was otherwise affirmed. (See id. at 17-18.)

No petition for rehearing was filed. Plaintiff Flethez filed a Petition for Review which this Court unanimously granted. (See [Order] (July 15, 2015).)

RULE 8.204(a)(2)(A) COMPLIANCE⁵

This appeal arises from a petition for a writ of administrative mandamus (see Pet. for Writ of Mandamus at 1; Appellant's App. 1), praying (1) that SBCERA be commanded to find that Plaintiff Flethez's application for a disability retirement should be deemed to have been filed as of 15 July 2000, (2) and it be commanded to find that the effective date of his retirement should be 16 July 2000, (3) for pension payments retroactive to 16 July 2000, (4) for interest on all retroactive payments, (5) for attorney's fees, (6) for costs, (7) and for any other appropriate relief. (See id. at 3; Appellant' App. 3.) The judgment appealed from provides for interest on all retroactive pension payments, (see J. Granting Peremp. Writ of Mandate para. 2, at 2; Appellant's App. 127), and it is indisputably final inasmuch as it resolves the sole remaining issue between the parties, see Morehart v. Cnty. of Santa Barbara, 7 Cal. 4th 725, 740, 875 P.2d 143, 152,

⁵ Cal. R. Ct. 8.204(a)(2)(A) (2015).

29 Cal. Rptr. 2d 803, 813 (1994).

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The issues presented herein are subject to de novo review. The interpretation of a statute is a question of law that an appellate court determines de novo, independently of the trial court's interpretation. See Regents of the Univ. of Cal. v. Superior Court (Molloy), 20 Cal. 4th 509, 531, 976 P.2d 808, 821, 85 Cal. Rptr. 2d 257, 270 (1999); Riehl v. Hauck, 224 Cal. App. 4th 695, 699, 168 Cal. Rptr. 2d 795, 798 (2014). The application of a statute to undisputed facts is also a question of law that is reviewed de novo. See Aryeh v. Canon Bus. Solutions, 55 Cal. 4th 1185, 1191, 292 P.3d 871, 874, 151 Cal. Rptr. 3d 827, 831 (2013); Cuiellette v. City of L.A., 194 Cal. App. 4th 757, 765, 123 Cal. Rptr. 3d 562, 568 (2011).

THE STATUTES IN QUESTION

Section 3287(a) of the California Civil Code reads in its entirety as follows:

A person who is entitled to recover damages certain, or capable of being made certain by calculation, and the right to recover which is vested in the person upon a particular day, is entitled also to recover interest thereon from that day, except when the debtor is prevented by law, or by the act of the creditor from paying the debt. This section is applicable to

recovery of damages and interest from any debtor, including the state or any county, city, city and county, municipal corporation, public district, public agency, or any subdivision of the state.

Section 31724 of the California Government Code⁶ reads in its entirety as follows:

If the proof received, including any medical examination, shows to the satisfaction of the board that the member is permanently incapacitated physically or mentally for the performance of his duties in the service, it shall retire him effective on the expiration date of any leave of absence with compensation to which he shall become entitled under the provisions of Division 4 (commencing with Section 3201) of the Labor Code or effective on the occasion of the member's consent to retirement prior to the expiration of such leave of absence with compensation. His disability retirement allowance shall be effective as of the date such application is filed with the board, but not earlier than the day following the last day for which he received regular compensation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, the retirement of a member who has been granted or is entitled to sick leave shall not become effective until the expiration of such sick leave with compensation unless the member consents to his retirement at an earlier date.

When it has been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the board that the filing of the member's application was delayed by administrative oversight or by inability to ascertain the permanency of the member's incapacity until after the date following the day for which the member last received regular compensation, such date will be deemed to be the date the application was filed.

⁶ Section 31724 is part of the County Employees Retirement Act of 1937, Cal. Gov't Code §§ 31450-31898 (West 2008 & Supp. 2015).

ARGUMENT

I. PREFACE.

A purpose “of prejudgment interest in general is to provide just compensation to the injured party for loss of use of the [underlying] award during the prejudgment period—in other words to make the plaintiff whole as of the date of the injury”. Lakin v. Watkin Associated Indus., 6 Cal. 4th 644, 663, 863 P.2d 179, 191, 25 Cal. Rptr. 2d 109, 121 (1993); see Wisper Corp. v. Cal. Commerce Bank (Higgs, Fletcher & Mack), 49 Cal. App. 4th 948, 960, 57 Cal. Rptr. 2d 141, 148 (1996) (“The policy embodying authorization of an award of prejudgment interest is to compensate the injured party—to make that party whole for the accrual of wealth which could have been produced during the period of loss.”) (quoting Cassinovs v. Union Oil Co., 14 Cal. App. 4th 1770, 1790, 18 Cal. Rptr. 2d 574, 586 (1993)). That beneficent purpose is fully applicable to retroactive payments of disability retirement payments. See Weber v. Bd. of Ret., 62 Cal. App. 4th 1440, 1441, 73 Cal. Rptr. 2d 769, 772 (1998) (terming the right to recover prejudgment interest on such payments to be “settled law”).

But SBCERA would throw a spike into the wheel of this humane system. According to SBCERA, prejudgment interest does not begin to run when the underlying retroactive pension benefits are due, as is generally the

case, (see discussion infra Part II. B), but instead it begins to run only when the application for disability retirement has been filed and sufficient evidence has been presented to establish the applicant's entitlement to the retirement benefits. (See Answer to Pet. for Review at 18 (describing the opinion of the Court of Appeal) [hereinafter Answer].)

But this theory is unfounded and should be given short shrift. Instead, the half century of this Court's case law contradicting that theory must be followed. At the end of the day, SBCERA flogs a horse that will not run.

**II. PLAINTIFF FLETHEZ WAS ENTITLED TO PREJUDGMENT
INTEREST ON HIS RETROACTIVE DISABILITY
RETIREMENT PAYMENTS UNDER WELL
ESTABLISHED AND CONCEPTUALLY SOUND LAW.**

A. On The Subjects Of Prejudgment Interest And Pension Payments.

Civil Code Section 3287(a) provides for the recovery of prejudgment interest under certain circumstances. See, e.g., Martin v. Ede, 103 Cal. 152, 162, 37 P. 199, 201 (1894) ("Plaintiff's demand . . . was capable of being made certain by computation. It therefore drew interest under section 3287[(a)] of the Civil Code."). Under that statute a claimant must satisfy

three conditions for the recovery of prejudgment interest in a mandamus action against a public entity. See Tripp v. Swoap, 17 Cal. 3d 671, 682, 552 P.2d 749, 757, 131 Cal. Rptr. 789, 797 (1976), implicitly overruled on other grounds, AFL-CIO v. Unempl. Ins. Appeals Bd., 23 Cal. 4th 1017, 1042-43, 920 P.2d 1314, 1329, 56 Cal. Rptr. 2d 109, 124 (1996), and explicitly overruled on other grounds, Frink v. Prod., 31 Cal. 3d 166, 180, 643 P.2d 476, 484, 181 Cal. Rptr. 893, 901 (1982). “(1) There must be an underlying monetary obligation, (2) the recovery must be certain or capable of being made certain by calculation, and (3) the right to recover must vest on a particular day.” Id.

Because the payment of disability retirement pension benefits snugly satisfies these criteria, that the Superior Court has the duty to award prejudgment interest pursuant to section 3287(a) in a mandamus action brought to recover disability retirement benefits wrongfully denied by the board of retirement is “settled law”. Weber, 62 Cal. App. 4th at 1445, 73 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 772. As this Court has recognized, “prejudgment interest is payable on an award of wrongfully withheld disability retirement benefits”. AFL-CIO v. Unempl. Ins. Appeals Bd., 23 Cal. 3d 1017, 1031, 920 P.2d 1314, 1322, 56 Cal. Rptr. 2d 109, 117 (1996).

///

B. Of Accrual, Vesting, And Due Dates.

However, the question of when prejudgment interest begins to run in this context remains. The answer is that section 3287(a) “authorizes prejudgment interest on . . . payments from the date of accrual to the entry of judgment”. Mass v. Bd. of Educ., 61 Cal. 2d 612, 624, 394 P.2d 579, 587, 39 Cal. Rptr. 739, 747 (1964). But the question then becomes when does an obligation accrue. The answer this time is that an obligation accrues when it becomes due. See Olson v. Cory, 35 Cal. 3d 390, 402, 873 P.2d 720, 728, 197 Cal. Rptr. 843, 851 (1983) (“Interest is recoverable on each . . . pension payment from the date it fell due.”); Mass, 61 Cal. 2d at 624, 394 P.2d at 587-88, 39 Cal. Rptr. at 747-48 (“Each . . . payment . . . accrued on a date certain [T]he . . . payments became vested as of the dates they accrued”).

Ah, say SBCERA and the Court of Appeal, but a payment cannot vest or be wrongfully withheld until the obligation to pay is established. (See Answer at 19 (“where . . . the plaintiff’s entitlement to receive the payment . . . requires an application supported by evidence upon which an administrative agency is obligated to act, the payment has not been wrongfully denied unless and until the agency actually makes a decision that erroneously denies payment”); id. at 21 (stating that the decision

of the Court of Appeal rests upon the principle that prejudgment interest “runs only from and after the date that the applicant’s right to the benefit has been established”.) But this facile contention was rejected by this Court long ago.

C. Precedent Revisited.

In Mass, the defendant employer argued “that interest only accrues from the date when the board bore the legal duty to reinstate [the] plaintiff because until that time the ‘right to recover’ did not ‘vest’ in him . . . and [that] until then he was legally suspended”. Mass, 61 Cal. 2d at 625, 394 P.2d at 587, 39 Cal. Rptr. at 747 (quoting § 3287(a)). But this Court would have none of this argument.

The Civil Code requires vesting . . . only in order to fix with sufficient certainty the time when the obligation accrues so that interest should not be awarded on an amount before it is due. Each salary payment in the instant case accrued on a date certain. Unless the suspension itself can be sustained and the board thus relieved of any obligation whatsoever, the salary payments became vested as of the dates they accrued. If plaintiff had not been wrongfully suspended, he would have obtained the benefit of the moneys paid as of those dates; he has thus lost the natural growth and productivity of the withheld salary in the form of interest.

Id. at 825, 394 P.2d at 587-88, 39 Cal. Rptr. at 747-48.

For the last half century this Court has in various contexts interpreted the concepts of vesting and wrongful withholding to mean precisely what

Mass says that they mean. See Currie v. WCAB (L.A. Cnty. Metro. Transp. Auth.), 24 Cal. 4th 1109, 1114, 12 P.3d 749, 754, 204 Cal. Rptr. 2d 392, 398 (2001) (“Interest is recoverable on each salary or pension payment from the date it fell due.”) (citing Mass) (backpay awarded to a bus driver); Olson, 35 Cal. 3d at 402, 873 P.2d at 728, 197 Cal. Rptr. at 851 (“Interest is recoverable on each . . . pension payment from the date it fell due.”) (citing Mass) (salary and pension increases due to judges and judicial pensioners); Tripp, 17 Cal. 3d at 683, 552 P.2d at 757, 131 Cal. Rptr. at 797 (“For purposes of awarding interest, each payment of benefits . . . should be viewed as vesting on the date it becomes due.”) (citing Mass) (welfare benefits); Sanders v. City of L.A., 3 Cal. 3d 252, 262-63, 475 P.2d 201, 208, 90 Cal. Rptr. 169, 176 (1970) (“The wrongful withholding of past due pension payments . . . fall[s] within the definition of damages . . . and represent[s] [an] obligation[] on which interest will run.”) (upholding an award of prejudgment interest on retroactive payments of salaries and wages that “were capable of being made certain and were made certain”).

The Court of Appeal of course followed suit. See, e.g., Goldfarb v. Civ. Serv. Comm’n, 225 Cal. App. 3d 633, 636, 275 Cal. Rptr. 289, 286 (1990) (“[Plaintiff] is entitled to interest on each installment of back salary from the date it fell due.”) (citing Mass) (back salary payments of civil service

psychologist); Austin v. Bd. of Ret., 209 Cal. App. 3d 1528, 1533, 258 Cal. Rptr. 106, 108 (1989) (“there is nothing in the statutory scheme governing disability pension benefits suggesting a legislative intent to preclude recovery of interest and damages awarded as prejudgment benefits from the date such benefits became due”) (citing Mass) (retroactive disability retirement benefits).

D. Precedent Applied.

As in Mass and its progeny, so also are these principles applicable here. The pension payments to which Plaintiff Flethez was entitled each accrued on a date certain. Unless Plaintiff Flethez’ disability retirement application had been denied entirely and SBCERA consequently relieved of any obligation whatsoever, the pension payments became vested as of the dates they accrued. Plaintiff Flethez’ pension payments nominally began accruing on the date that his application for disability retirement was filed, but the so-called deemer clause, the final sentence of section 31724 of the Government Code⁷, pushed back the effective date of his retirement to the

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