S226779

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FRANK FLETHEZ, Plaintiff and Respondent, SUPREME COURT

VS.

SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION, Defendant and Appellant.

OCT 1 3 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

San Bernardino Superior Court Case No. CIV-DC-1212542 The Honorable David Cohn

California Court of Appeals Fourth District, Division One, Case No. D066959

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Christopher D. Lockwood, SBN 110853

Arias & Lockwood

225 W. Hospitality Lane, Suite 314

San Bernardino, CA 92408

Facsimile:

Telephone: (909) 890-0125 (909) 890-0185

Email:

Christopher.Lockwood@

ariasLockwood.com

Michael P. Calabrese, SBN 237682

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

IV. ARGUMENT.

A. Summary of the Argument.

Respondent's argument for prejudgment interest running from the time prior to SBCERA's opportunity to act on his claim for a disability retirement allowance at the administrative level fails every necessary element of the statutory test for such a claim under section 3287(a).

First, a CERL applicant's right to a disability retirement allowance and a right to pre-application retroactive benefits are both contingent upon the submission of proof of entitlement thereto, and the Retirement Board's consideration of that proof. Because the right cannot mature until those

contingencies are removed, Respondent's right to the benefits in question therefore did not and could not vest in him until he submitted an application and provided proof of his entitlement to SBCERA, and the Board considered that proof. Prior to that time, any right to retire for disability, and any further right to pre-application retroactive benefits, was not vested but merely inchoate. And because vesting is a requirement before prejudgment interest can run, no prejudgment interest could be owed before Respondent submitted an application and the required proof and the Board acted upon it on October 4, 2012.

Second, the "damages" that Respondent now seeks could not, prior to their presentation to SBCERA and the submission of evidence thereon, have been "certain, or capable of being made certain by calculation." Rather, Respondent's failure even to notify SBCERA that he would seek such benefits, let alone present a basis upon which SBCERA could have calculated the exact amount of those benefits, defeats any claim to section 3287(a) interest before he did so. Extensive case law under section 3287(a) addresses periods when a creditor neglects to provide a debtor with the information that would permit the debtor to determine the amount of the debt owed. The rule is well established that prejudgment interest will not run on the debt during such a period, because the debtor could not have known what, if anything, to pay the creditor, so the "certain, or capable of being made certain by calculation" requirement is not met.

Third, Respondent's failure to apply for and submit evidence in support of his claim left SBCERA, until he did so, in a position where it was "prevented by law" from awarding him the subsequently claimed benefits. The CERL requires a board of retirement, prior to awarding disability benefits, to evaluate and find sufficient the medical and other evidence submitted in support thereof. Moreover, case law establishes that SBCERA has an affirmative duty to evaluate the evidence in support of any disability claim, and to take care to pay benefits only to a claimant entitled thereto, and to no others. Section 31724 mandates a presumption that benefits are paid for a period on and after "the date such application is filed with the board, but not earlier than the day following the last year for which he [or she] received regular compensation." (Gov. Code, § 31724.) Preapplication retroactive benefits can be paid only if the applicant demonstrates, with evidence, a valid basis for overcoming that statutory presumption. To pay such benefits without proof of entitlement is unlawful. Because there was a time when SBCERA was "prevented by law" from paying the disputed benefits, section 3287(a)'s explicit instruction is that any award of interest against SBCERA shall exclude that time.

Whether the question was one of vesting, or of determining when a benefit was "certain or capable of being made certain," or of whether the debtor was prevented by law from paying the debt, the authors of section

3287(a) drew the same distinction: interest will run only on and after the day when the debt should actually have been paid. Whether there was no duty to pay because the debt was still subject to a contingency (*i.e.*, it was not vested), or because the debtor could not know with certainty what or whether to pay, or because the law required a delay in payment, the result is the same. Interest will not run before payment was actually due.

All of these factors counsel against any assessment of interest against SBCERA in the instant case until Respondent had demonstrated his entitlement to the pre-application retroactive benefits in question, and the Board adjudicated that claim. Interest is owed under section 3287(a) from the day that the entitlement was, or should have been, established by the adjudicator (here, the Board), and not before.

- B. The Explicit Requirements of Section 3287(a) are NotMet.
 - Allowance with an Effective Date Prior to His
 Filing an Application With SBCERA Was Not
 Vested Until the Condition that He Prove His
 Entitlement to All Aspects of It Had Been Fulfilled.

The first reason that Respondent cannot be entitled to the prejudgment interest at issue here is that his right to a disability retirement allowance for any period of time did not, and could not, vest until the Board

was presented with, and considered and rendered a decision on, his claim for those benefits.

a) The Right to Payments Vests on the Date the
 Claimant Becomes Entitled to Receive Them.

This Court has succinctly answered the question of vesting in a section 3287(a) case. A right to the payment of money "vests on the date the claimant was entitled to receive payment." (*AFL*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 1034.) The Court there was applying and explaining its earlier statement of the same rule in *Tripp v. Swoap* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 671, 683, that for the purpose of awarding section 3287(a) interest, "each payment of benefits similarly should be viewed as vesting on the date it becomes due."

(1) Respondent's Misleading Citations to

Mass Cannot Save His Case.

Respondent goes to great lengths, throughout his submissions but most explicitly at page 13 of his Opening Brief, to obscure the key distinctions between the concepts of benefits becoming "vested," becoming "due," and being "accrued." Thus, Respondent claims at page 13 that it is a legal rule that "section 3287(a) 'authorizes prejudgment interest on...payments from the date of accrual to the entry of judgment." For this proposition, Respondent cites *Mass v. Bd. of Educ.*, *supra*, 61 Cal.2d at p. 624. Respondent then claims that "the question then becomes when does an obligation accrue." That is the wrong question, though. Because the

issue is the "vested" requirement of section 3287(a), the question is when the right to a payment vests. If a right happens to vest on the accrual date, then the answers to the two questions will be the same, but that does not make them the same question.

To see this clearly, it helps to examine the various meanings of the word "accrue." Webster's Encyclopedic Unabridged Dictionary of the English Language offers three definitions of the word: "1. to happen or result as a natural growth, addition, etc. 2. to be added as a matter of periodic gain or advantage, as interest on money. 3. *Law*. to become a present and enforceable right or demand." It is not difficult to see how these three meanings can produce very different results, and how a failure to distinguish among the various meanings can lead to confusion in the law.

Consider the hypothetical example of an employee with a performance-based incentive payment in her contract. The right to payment may be triggered solely by the meeting of a certain performance goal (e.g., a certain return on investments) over the course of a fiscal year. Yet the contract might also be written to say that the payment is not actually due until the payday for the first pay period after a year-end report showing the returns is submitted to and accepted by the governing body of the organization. This might take some weeks after the fiscal year's end. The contract might further say that the employee must remain employed on the report's acceptance date in order to actually receive the payment. In such a

case, the right to the payment would accrue (under either of the first two meanings above) on the completion of the fiscal year, because it would "happen as a natural growth" from, or "be added" due to, events that occurred during that fiscal year. But it would be merely inchoate at that time. (See Schachter v. Citigroup, Inc. (2009) 47 Cal.4th 610, 621-22.) The right would vest only upon the occurrence of the further contingency that the employee remained employed on the date that the report was accepted. And payment of it would become due on the payday for the first pay period commencing thereafter. Thus, it is possible on the right facts for accrual, vesting, and becoming due all to occur at different times. Respondent's attempts to conflate the terms, as if they must always coincide exactly, does not bear scrutiny. Understanding the terms properly, then, one sees that Respondent's right to a disability retirement might be said, in some sense, to have "accrued" with each passing month as he remained permanently incapacitated beginning in July of 2000, in that his entitlement is attributable to conditions in existence during those times. But, it did not and could not vest until the occurrence of further contingencies - namely that he applied for the benefit and presented evidence in support thereof, and the Board rendered a final decision on his application. And it could not become *due* until it vested, at the earliest.

Viewed in this light, it becomes clear that the *Mass* Court's statement that section 3287 (a) "authorizes prejudgment interest on . . .

payments from the date of accrual to the entry of judgment" was not a general statement of the law. Rather, it was a much more specific ruling based on the legal framework and facts of that case, and applicable only in that context. Respondent's strategic use of an ellipsis at page 13 of his opening brief actually reveals the fallacy in Respondent's contention. That ellipsis represents the deletion of exactly one word: "salary." The unaltered quote from *Mass* is that section 3287(a) "authorizes prejudgment interest on salary payments from the date of accrual to the entry of judgment." (Mass, supra, 61 Cal.2d at p. 624, emphasis supplied.) Respondent makes similarly misleading use of multiple ellipses in another "quote" from Mass later in the same paragraph on page 13: "Each...payment...accrued on a date certain....[T]he...payments became vested on the dates they accrued." The full quote, with omitted words emphasized, is "Each salary payment in the instant case accrued on a date certain. Unless the suspension itself can be sustained and the board <u>relieved of any obligation whatsoever</u>, the <u>salary</u> payments became vested as of the dates they accrued." (Mass, supra, 61 Cal.2d at p. 625 (not page 624 as cited).) Thus, the Mass Court made clear that it was only stating a conclusion based on application of the law to the specific facts "in the instant case," which related only to "salary" payments. The right to salary payments does indeed vest when they accrue, since no further contingency is normally necessary for them to be paid. But, if the payment at issue is

not a salary payment that would otherwise would have been made but for a wrongful suspension or termination, these passages from *Mass* state no applicable rule at all. On different facts, vesting may occur at a different time, and that normally will be the date from which section 3287(a) interest will run.

(2) The Rules for Vesting In Disability Cases Are Clear.

When the facts involve a grant of disability retirement under the CERL, we need not wonder when vesting occurs, as this question has been answered in *Weber, supra,* 62 Cal.App.4th at p. 1448. Noting *AFL*'s rule that vesting occurs "on the date the claimant was entitled to receive the payment," the *Weber* Court applied that rule to a CERL disability setting: "The event which triggers retirement and allowance payments is the disability determination by the Board. Until that time, the member is not retired, and [the retirement system] has no monetary obligation to that member." (*Weber, supra,* 62 Cal.App.4th at p. 1448.)

Respondent, seeking to explain away Weber's ruling on vesting, places great reliance on the Weber Court's statement that, upon the determination by the Board, the "right to receive the benefits vests

² As discussed below, interest may not run in cases where the amount owed is not certain or capable of being made certain, or where the debtor is prevented from paying by law or by act of the creditor.

retroactively to the date the application was filed." (Opening Brief, p. 20, citing Weber, supra, 62 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1449.) Respondent would take this to mean that the vesting itself is deemed to have occurred on a date potentially far in the past. Indeed, in the instant case, Respondent seeks to combine this novel notion that vesting can itself be retroactive with the further concept of a disability application being "deemed" to have been filed long before it actually was filed, attempting to produce the result that his right to benefits should be "deemed" to have vested in 2000, when he ceased working but long before he ever could have received payments. This claim is asserted even though Respondent made no claim to any disability retirement benefits from SBCERA, and necessarily therefore made no showing in support thereof, for approximately a decade. The Board thus could not have rendered a decision thereon, and of course SBCERA therefore could have not provided disability retirement benefits to Respondent. But, as the courts have clearly established, an application and decision based upon evidence sufficient to support the benefit sought are a sine qua non of vesting in a disability retirement case. By way of contrast, a member's right to a service retirement benefit is vested merely upon his or her application after sufficient years of service and having reached retirement age as defined by statute. As the facts establishing sufficient service and age are not ordinarily subject to doubt, the statutes place no additional evidentiary pre-condition on the member. (See

generally CERL provisions in Gov. Code sections 31670-31682 (applicable to service retirement for general members) and Gov. Code sections 31662-31664.65 (applicable to service retirement for safety members).)

Vesting, in retirement cases, has long been properly understood to be the removal of all contingencies to the right to receive a benefit. (See Brophy v. Employees Ret. System (1945) 71 Cal. App. 2d 455, 459 ("[T]he right to a pension does not become vested until the happening of the contingency upon which the pension becomes payable.").) Even in 1945, this idea was "too well-settled to require extended discussion." (*Ibid.*) Bizarrely, Respondent claims at page 17 of his opening brief that "[v]esting in this context means only that the obligation must be subject to ascertainment either on its face or by calculation." No authority is cited to support this statement, which seeks to merge the entirely distinct "vesting" and "certainty" requirements of section 3287(a). This would violate the well-known rule that a statute should not be construed in a manner that "renders related provisions nugatory." (Lungren v. Deukmejian (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) The cases thereafter quoted by Respondent say that a right to payment, on the facts of those cases, vests either "on the first day of [the creditor's] entitlement" (*Tripp, supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 683), or state that interest runs on each payment "from the date it fell due." (Olson v. Cory (1983) 35 Cal.3d 390, 402 ("Olson").) No case is cited that actually says, or even suggests, that the right to pension payments can vest, for any

purpose, when they become "subject to ascertainment," because there is no such case.

Respondent at pages 22-25 of his Opening Brief tries to make several cases into what they are not. But each of the cases cited - Mass, Olson, Currie v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2001) 24 Cal.4th 1109 ("Currie"), and Sanders v. City of Los Angeles (1970) 3 Cal.3d 252 ("Sanders"), involved payments to which the plaintiffs were entitled, and to which they had a vested right as of a particular date, without the need for any administrative and/or adjudicative process. Respondent's citation to Sanders is especially curious here. At page 24, Respondent claims that Sanders stands for the idea that "wrongful withholding of past due pension payments . . . represents an obligation on which interest will run." Sanders, however, was a case about salary being improperly underpaid, and was not about pensions. The cited passage from Sanders, supra, 3 Cal.3d at p. 262-63, actually quoted Benson v. City of Los Angeles (1963) 60 Cal.2d 355, 365-66 ("Benson").

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